

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Brain Research Reviews 43 (2003) 1-16

BRAIN RESEARCH REVIEWS

www.elsevier.com/locate/brainresrev

Review

Amyloid- β : a chameleon walking in two worlds: a review of the trophic and toxic properties of amyloid- β

Craig S. Atwood^{a,*}, Mark E. Obrenovich^a, Tianbing Liu^a, Hsien Chan^{a,b}, George Perry^a, Mark A. Smith^a, Ralph N. Martins^b

^aInstitute of Pathology, Case Western Reserve University, 2085 Adelbert Road, Cleveland, OH 44106, USA

^bSchool of Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences and Sir James McCusker Alzheimer's Disease Research Unit, University of Western Australia, Nedlands, Perth 6009, Australia

Accepted 20 March 2003

Abstract

Although much maligned, the amyloid- β (A β) protein has been shown to possess a number of trophic properties that emanate from the protein's ability to bind Cu, Fe and Zn. A β belongs to a group of proteins that capture redox metal ions (even under mildly acidotic conditions), thereby preventing them from participating in redox cycling with other ligands. The coordination of Cu appears to be crucial for A β 's own antioxidant activity that has been demonstrated both in vitro as well as in the brain, cerebrospinal fluid and plasma. The chelation of Cu by A β would therefore be predicted to dampen oxidative stress in the mildly acidotic and oxidative environment that accompanies acute brain trauma and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Given that oxidative stress promotes A β generation, the formation of diffuse amyloid plaques is likely to be a compensatory response to remove reactive oxygen species. This review weighs up the evidence supporting both the trophic and toxic properties of A β , and while evidence for direct A β neurotoxicity in vivo is scarce, we postulate that the product of A β 's antioxidant activity, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), is likely to mediate toxicity as the levels of this oxidant rise with the accumulation of A β in the AD brain. We propose that metal ion chelators, antioxidants, antiinflammatories and amyloid-lowering drugs that target the reduction of H₂O₂ and/or A β generation may be efficacious in decreasing neurotoxicity. However, given the antioxidant activity of A β , we suggest that the excessive removal of A β may prevent adequate chelation of metal ions and removal of O₂⁻⁻, leading to enhanced, rather than reduced, neuronal oxidative stress.

Theme: Disorders of the nervous system

Topic: Degenerative disease: Alzheimer's-beta amyloid

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease; Aβ; AβPP expression; Acute phase response; Metal ions; Iron; Copper; Antioxidant; Reactive oxygen species; Oxidation; Oxidative stress; Injury; Head trauma; Chelation; Neurotoxic; Zinc

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Oxidative stress is an early event in the AD brain	2
3.	A β deposition is a response to altered metal ion metabolism and oxidative stress	2
4.	Chelation and redox properties of AB	3
	4.1. Aβ possesses metal ion binding/chelation sites	3
	4.2. Cu and Zn alter the conformation of Aβ	4
	4.3. Aβ possesses redox properties	4
5.	The good side: neurotrophic and antioxidant properties of Aβ	5
6.	The dark side: neurotoxic and prooxidant properties of Aβ	8

*Corresponding author. Tel.: +1-216-368-5903; fax: +1-216-368-8964. *E-mail address:* csa4@po.cwru.edu (C.S. Atwood).

	6.1. Does iron or copper potentiate Aβ neurotoxicity?	8
	6.2. What is the mechanism of Aβ neurotoxicity in vitro?	8
7.	Transition to the dark side?	10
8.	Amyloid removal as a therapy?	10
9.	Conclusion	10
Re	eferences	11

1. Introduction

Neuronal amyloidoses occur in Alzheimer's disease (AD) [1,2], Down syndrome [3], following head injury [4] and in healthy aging individuals [5], and are characterized by the extracellular deposition of a 39-43 amino acid protein, amyloid- β (A β), derived from the larger amyloid β protein precursor (A β PP). A β PP is processed in the brain by two competing pathways that involve different proteolytic enzymes that were initially termed secretases (α -, β - and γ -secretases). These pathways either promote the generation of AB (amyloidogenic pathway) or preclude its production (non-amyloidogenic pathway) [6]. AB is released as a soluble product from A β PP [7–9] via a series of metabolic cleavage steps through the combined actions of β - and γ -secretase [10]. β -Secretase was recently identified as a transmembrane aspartyl protease known as BACE (β -site A β PP cleavage enzyme; [11–14]). Presenilin-1 (PS1), a familial AD gene, and nicastrin, have been identified as components of the γ -secretase complex [15,16]. Although A β is released as a soluble protein, and is detected in biological fluids and tissue, it aggregates as diffuse amorphous (noncongophilic) deposits and dense, focal (congophilic), extracellular deposits in AD. The deposition of A β and numerous other components, into amyloid deposits, is associated with a chronic inflammatory response and oxidative stress (reviewed in Refs. [17,18]). We review here the physiochemical properties of amyloid- β in relationship to the potential biological functions of this protein. In particular, we review $A\beta$'s propensity to bind copper and zinc, its redox activity and how these properties act on the one hand as a trophic agent, and on the other as a toxic agent.

2. Oxidative stress is an early event in the AD brain

One of the earliest pathological events in AD is oxidative damage to the brains of affected individuals [19]. The major site of increased oxidative damage is the cytoplasm of vulnerable neurons [20–23], while the lesions of AD [amyloid deposits and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs)] also accumulate oxidative modifications over time. Whereas stable glycation, carbonyl and lipid peroxidation products are predominantly associated with NFTs and A β deposits [24] or granulovacuolar degeneration (Perry, Smith, Sayre, unpublished observations), reversible or rapidly degraded adduction products (e.g., oxidized nucleic acids) are predominantly found in the cytoplasm of neurons vulnerable to AD neuropathology, and precede lesion formation. Other neuronal cell types display limited oxidative damage.

The increased oxidative modification of cellular and lesion macromolecules likely result from increased intracellular production of membrane permeable H_2O_2 by abnormal mitochondria, increased extra-neuronal production of H₂O₂ from activated microglia [18] and by amyloid- β deposits. Reaction of H₂O₂ with reduced metal ions via Fenton and Haber-Weiss chemistry leads to the generation of the hydroxyl radical (·OH) that induces many oxidative modifications in macromolecules (e.g., 8-hydroxyguanosine, carbonyls). Since the ·OH cannot diffuse beyond nanometer distances, (reacting in the microsecond time span), sites of nucleic acid and protein modification are indicative of the site of ·OH generation and therefore sites of bound Cu and Fe. The ·OH-mediated oxidative modifications associated with AD neuronal cytoplasm and lesions are consistent with the chronic dysregulation of metal ion binding in the cytoplasm of pyramidal neurons and lesions of the AD brain. Dysregulation of transition metal metabolism and their extra- and intracellular accumulation in the AD brain have been repeatedly demonstrated (reviewed in Ref. [25]). For example, a well-controlled study using microparticle-induced X-ray emission analysis of the cortical and accessory basal nuclei of the amygdala indicated that Cu, Fe and Zn accumulate in the neurophil of the AD brain where their concentrations are increased 3-5-fold compared to age-matched controls. Such alterations in the localization of cytoplasmic metal ions appear to occur concurrently with increases in cytoplasmic RNA oxidation [20-22]. Additional evidence for abnormal metal ion homeostasis in AD includes a 2.2-fold increase in the concentration of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) Cu [26], an accompanying increase in ceruloplasmin [27] in the brain and CSF of AD patients and numerous reports of abnormal levels of Fe and Fe-binding proteins [27-29].

3. A β deposition is a response to altered metal ion metabolism and oxidative stress

Increases in metal ion accumulation and oxidative stress in the AD brain are associated with changes in the concentration of soluble and deposited A β . A number of stress conditions upregulate A β PP expression and A β generation. One common endpoint leading to this change

in the expression and processing of A β PP and A β deposition is the shortage of energy supply, related oxidative stresses and apoptosis. Ischemia, hypoglycemia and traumatic brain injury, a condition that has been shown to put neurons under metabolic stress [30], all upregulate ABPP and/or its mRNA in animal models and culture systems [31-38]. Not only does energy shortage [and Ca(II) dysregulation] promote A β PP expression, but they also route the metabolism of ABPP from the nonamyloidogenic to the amyloidogenic pathway. Inhibition of mitochondrial energy metabolism alters the processing of ABPP to generate amyloidogenic derivatives [39,40], while oxidative stresses $(H_2O_2 \text{ and } UV)$ have been shown to increase the generation of $A\beta$ peptides in monkey eye lenses [41] and neuroblastoma cells [42-44]. H₂O₂ increases concentrations of both intracellular [42,45] and secreted A β [43] in neuronal cell lines. Importantly, the antioxidants Trolox and dimethyl sulfoxide are able to block the increase in neuronal A β generation [42]. Other sources of oxidative stress such as paired helical filamentinduced superoxide radical generation [46], inorganic mercury-induced decreases in cellular glutathione [22] and oxidative stress induced by micromolar concentrations of A β [43] also increase neuronal A β production. That A β (at concentrations sufficient to induce oxidation) can induce its own production suggests the potential for the development of a 'vicious feedback cycle' of increasing AB generation and oxidative stress [44]. Serum deprivation (trophic factor withdrawal), which is known to increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation [47,48], also increases AB production in human primary neurons [49]. This observation may explain why estrogen withdrawal increases the generation of AB in neuroblastoma cells [50,51]. Although hypoglycemia and ischemia promote ABPP mRNA and protein expression (see above), increased production of $A\beta$ in the presence of H_2O_2 is not related to increased synthesis of A β PP but rather to increased generation of A β from A β PP [42]. This suggests that A β PP is upregulated under these conditions for functions other than the chelation and antioxidant activities of A β , such as its role in enhancing neurite outgrowth [52] and mediating the axonal transport of the membrane compartment containing βsecretase and presenilin-1 [53].

Taken together, these results suggest that A β synthesis is modulated by stress conditions, perhaps as a result of altered metal ion metabolism. In support of this role, Perry and colleagues have shown that amyloid plaque and NFT load in the cortex are inversely correlated with oxidative stress [20,21,54,55]. That is, as amyloid load increases, cytoplasmic oxidative damage decreases. A similar negative correlation between A β deposition and oxidative damage was found in patients with Down syndrome (DS) [20]. Notably, A β deposits observed in both studies mainly consist of early diffuse plaques. These findings indicate that in brains of patients with AD and DS, early A β deposition is correlated to decreased oxidative stress. Thus, formation of diffuse amyloid plaques may be considered as a compensatory response that reduces oxidative stress [18,19,56]. Consistent with this, in situ, soluble A β levels are inversely correlated with synaptic loss [57]. These observations also suggest that the accumulation of A β in the AD brain may be related to the increased oxidative challenge experienced by the brain as we age [58].

An increase in A β generation in the AD, DS and aging brains, and under the oxidative experimental conditions described above may be aimed at chelating metal ions in order to prevent oxidation. We and others have proposed that AB deposition may act as a sink for trapping potentially harmful transition metal ions (particularly redox active metal ions) that can be released from metal-binding proteins by oxidative and mildly acidotic conditions, and that would otherwise catalyze adverse oxidation of biomolecules [18,19,59,60]. Such conditions are present during inflammation as observed in the AD brain and following head trauma (see Ref. [25] for a review). The capture of metal ions in turn promotes the aggregation of $A\beta$ that deposits as 'diffuse' amyloid. It is not surprising that the brain, which concentrates transition metal ions [25], has developed mechanisms to sequester metal ions to prevent their abnormal distribution under stress conditions.

Given this response to oxidative stress and metal ion accumulation, it is not surprising that $A\beta$ deposition is detected in the human brain after traumatic brain injury [61,62]. Both $A\beta_{1-40}$ and, especially, $A\beta_{1-42}$ increase in CSF during the first week following the trauma [63]. Fatal head injury results in the formation of diffuse parenchymal deposits of AB in the brain, all of which contain AB₁₋₄₂ as a major component [64]. Irrespective of the stress, $A\beta$ production appears to be a regulatory response that helps cells to cope with abnormal metabolism of transition metals. Together, these data provide a plausible physiological explanation for the increased generation of $A\beta$ in AD and following head trauma, one that is aimed at chelating metal ions, reducing oxidative damage (thereby preventing ROS-mediated neuronal apoptosis), sealing vessels (see Refs. [65,66]) and promoting neurite outgrowth. We will discuss the biochemical data supporting the activation of AB antioxidant activities following metal ion chelation in the following sections.

4. Chelation and redox properties of AB

4.1. $A\beta$ possesses metal ion binding/chelation sites

A number of physiochemical properties of A β support the above-mentioned functions of A β . Over the last 5 years we have characterized A β as a metalloprotein that binds transition metal ions via the 3 histidine (positions 6, 13, and 14) and 1 tyrosine (position 10) residues located in the hydrophilic N-terminal part of the peptide [59,67]. While A β binds transition metals such as Zn and Fe, it is a

particularly strong Cu chelator [59,67]. AB has two binding sites for Cu (and Zn) between residues 6-14 that differ in affinity. Importantly, $A\beta_{1-42}$ has a much higher binding affinity for Cu(II) (4.5×10⁻¹⁷ M and 5×10⁻⁹ M) than Zn(II) $(1 \times 10^{-9} \text{ and } 40 \times 10^{-9})$ at both sites, with $A\beta_{1-40}$ having a lower binding affinity for Cu than $A\beta_{1-42}$ [67]. Cu has recently been shown to bind to the nitrogen atoms of the imidazole ring of the three histidine residues of AB [68] and to be coordinated between bridging histidine residues [69]. These strong chelating properties of A β for Cu(II), Zn(II) and perhaps Fe(III) explain the reported enrichment of these metal ions in amyloid plaques in AD [70], and suggest that one function of $A\beta$ is to sequester these metal ions. Recent studies of amyloid deposits in the ABPP2576 transgenic mouse model of AD [71] have identified enrichments of Zn [70] and Fe [23], resembling those seen in AD amyloid (Cu levels are not yet established in this model). Further support that $A\beta$ is a metalloprotein comes from our recent Raman microscopy studies that identify both Cu and Zn bound to histidine residues in amyloid core plaques [72]. Binding of redox active Cu (and Fe) by $A\beta$ would remove this potentially redox active species from oxidative reactions.

4.2. Cu and Zn alter the conformation of $A\beta$

Binding of Cu and Zn by synthetic human A β induces its aggregation [59,67,73–75], but not fibrillization [76] in vitro. Early studies indicated that histidine residues were important for AB aggregation since the loss of histidine residues, such as in rat A β which contains three amino acid substitutions (Arg \rightarrow Gly, Tyr \rightarrow Phe and His \rightarrow Arg at positions 5, 10 and 13, respectively) [77] or histidine modification, results in greatly diminished aggregation of A β by Cu(II), Zn(II) or Fe(III) [59,78]. These results indicate that histidine residues are essential for metalmediated assembly of AB and may explain why cerebral A β deposition is not a feature of aged rats [77] even though soluble $A\beta_{1-40}$ is produced by rat neuronal tissue [79]. Miura et al. [68] using Raman spectroscopy have demonstrated that Zn(II) binds to the $N(\tau)$ atom of the histidine imidazole ring and the peptide aggregates through intermolecular $His(N(\tau))-Zn(II)-His(N(\tau))$ bridges. Zn(II)-induces considerably more aggregation of Aβ compared with other metal ions at physiological pH [59,68,73,74].

Unlike other biometals, marked Cu(II)-induced aggregation of $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$ emerges as the solution pH is lowered below neutrality [59]. Although the N(τ)-metal ligation also occurs in Cu(II)-induced A β aggregation at mildly acidic pH, below neutral pH, Cu(II) binds to N(π), and to deprotonated amide nitrogens of the peptide main chain. Bridging histidine residues also would explain the multiple metal-binding sites observed for each peptide and the high degree of cooperativity evident for subsequent metal binding [67,69]. Although three histidines are bound to the metal center several potential sites still exist for further coordination of metal ions, such that continued metal-mediated cross-linking of the peptides would lead to aggregation. Cu(II)-induced precipitation at pH 6.6, which is specific for certain proteins, is completely reversible with either alkalinization returning the pH to 7.4, or chelation [59]. Similar pH specific aggregation has recently been found for Zn(II) in the presence of heparin [76].

Confirming the role that transition metal ions play in the assembly of diffuse A β in the brain, Cu/Zn chelators were shown to significantly enhance the solubilization of $A\beta$ from post-mortem AD brain [80]. The high concentrations of redox active Cu and Fe, and redox inactive Zn present in the cortex and hippocampus and the release of Cu (~15 μ M) [81] and Zn (200–300 μ M) [82,83] from the synapse during transmission coupled with the lowered pH of the inflammatory AD brain provide an ideal environment in which $A\beta$ could aggregate. That $A\beta$ deposits during inflammatory conditions such as following head injury and in AD where pH is low, and where Cu, Zn and Fe are released from other metalloproteins, indicates a unique role for AB in sequestering metal ions during times of inflammation/oxidative stress. Interestingly, AB simultaneously binds equal amounts of Cu(II) and Zn(II) in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) at pH 7.4 (~1.7 atoms each) when equimolar concentrations of both metal ions are present [67]. However, when the pH is lowered to pH 6.6, Cu effectively competes almost all Zn from AB. This may be a trigger for the initiation of the redox properties described below.

4.3. $A\beta$ possesses redox properties

A β has two major sites that are important for its redox activity. The first site involves the binding of redox active Cu or Fe to human $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$ via histidine residues that directly produces H₂O₂ by a mechanism that involves the reduction of these metal ions [18,69,84-87]. The second site is Met at position 35 in the lipophilic C-terminal region. AB peptides lacking Met35 (e.g., $A\beta_{1-28}$) have a decreased capacity to reduce Cu(II) and generate H₂O₂ [69,85,86], while addition of methionine to $A\beta_{1-28}$ greatly increases the reduction of Cu(II), thereby indicating its importance for Cu reduction [69]. In addition, substitution of this residue by another amino acid abrogates the prooxidant action of $A\beta_{25-35}$ towards liposome oxidation [88] and decreases protein oxidation (and neurotoxicity, see below) induced by $A\beta_{25-35}$, $A\beta_{1-40}$, and $A\beta_{1-42}$ [89]. The presence of Met35 alone is not sufficient for redox activity and neurotoxicity since rat A β , which has Met 35 but lacks a key redox metal ion binding site (histidine 13), has low toxicity. Thus, the coordination of redox metal ions by $A\beta$ is crucial for the redox activity and neurotoxicity of the peptide.

The high affinity of A β for Cu [67], its strong redox

potential and recruitment of O₂ [69,85,86] are features that resemble the electrochemistry of Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase (SOD) [90]. We have found that $A\beta$, when bound to an appropriate amount of Cu(II) and Zn(II), also can catalyze the dismutation of superoxide (O_2) to H_2O_2 , and could therefore operate as an antioxidant [91,92]. Conversely, under certain conditions, in the presence of either Cu(II) or Fe(III), A β produces a positive thiobarbituric reactive substance assay [85] and electron spin resonance spin-trapping spectra [93] compatible with the generation of the hydroxyl radical (OH·). The amounts of reduced metal and ROS are both greatest when generated by $A\beta_{1-42} > A\beta_{1-40} >$ rat $A\beta_{1-40} = A\beta_{1-28}$, a chemical relationship that correlates with the relative neurotoxicity of these peptides. Methionine also can scavenge free radicals [94] and reduce transition metals to their high-active lowvalency form [95], thereby exhibiting both anti- and prooxidative properties. Thus, AB possesses physiochemical properties consistent with both an antioxidant and a prooxidant. In the following sections we will review evidence for both these activities.

5. The good side: neurotrophic and antioxidant properties of $A\beta$

Although largely neglected, numerous studies have demonstrated that AB exhibits neurotrophic and neuroprotective properties when present at physiological concentrations (nM) in deprived conditions and neonatal cells (Fig. 1) [96–106]. Included in these neurotrophic properties, we have found that nanomolar concentrations of $A\beta$ can block neuronal apoptosis following trophic factor withdrawal [92]. These results are consistent with the metal binding and redox properties of AB described above whereby $A\beta$ chelates Cu which in turn 'switches on' the antioxidant activities of A β (Fig. 1) [91,92]. In this respect, we have found that the anti-apoptotic activity of A β is modulated by Cu concentration [92]. Recently, the antioxidant properties of A β were confirmed by Kontush et al. [107] who showed that AB prevents lipoprotein oxidation in CSF and by Zou et al. [108] who showed that monomeric $A\beta_{1-40}$ inhibits the reduction of Fe(III) induced by vitamin C and the generation of O_2^- . That A β



Fig. 1. The power of sacred animals in mythology and folklore is directly related to their ability to live in two worlds. This ability to straddle one or more ecological niches or divide their time between the land and the water or the sky is cause for veneration. Anthropologists use the notion of liminality as a tool to describe these attributes. In this regard, animals such as birds, frogs and chameleons provide a metaphor for liminality and an abstract frame of reference that can be employed in attempts to understand further actual data. This notion only achieves analytical worth by way of the dialectical relationship between the structure/anti-structure contrast. Nevertheless, the A β protein has been shown to possess 'liminal-like states'. We chose the chameleon as a metaphor, as it is known to change its skin color and pattern to match its surroundings. Analogous to the chameleon, A β somehow partakes in this power to walk at once in two worlds, whereby it too changes its properties in response to its environment. In this review, we explore how A β liminally spans the gap between the trophic (A) and the toxic (B) to serve the brain at one time and perhaps contribute to problems at another.



Fig. 1. (continued)

protects against H_2O_2 induced death implies that its substrate is not H_2O_2 .

Evidence that $A\beta$ has antioxidant activity is accumulating and is summarized in Table 1. Strong cellular evidence that AB acts as an antioxidant comes from studies showing that the increased production of A β by mutant PS1 fibroblasts is accompanied by a decrease in the production of ROS, particularly ·OH formation [110]. Consistent with this finding is that primary cortical neurons infected with wild-type or mutant PS1 are not associated with increased sensitivity to apoptosis [111]. Moreover, the increased production of $A\beta$ induced by the over-expression of wildtype PS1 in brains of transgenic mice results in increased brain resistance to metal-induced oxidation [112]. Conversely, primary hippocampal neurons from PS1M146V mutant knock-in mice have been shown to exhibit increased superoxide production, mitochondrial membrane depolarization, and caspase activation when treated with A β [117,118]. However, it is likely that the high concentrations of A β used in this study promoted ROS generation (see below) that exceeded the capacity of the cellular antioxidant defense systems. Monomeric AB also has been shown to protect neurons from Fe(II) induced toxicity [108]. Thus, A β generation appears to protect cells from oxidation (by metal ions).

In addition to its cellular protective role, addition of

physiological concentrations of $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$ also has been shown to protect lipoproteins from oxidation in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma [107]. Since these $A\beta$ peptides do not prevent metal-independent lipoprotein oxidation, and $A\beta_{25-35}$ was shown to be less effective at inhibiting lipoxidation, it is likely that the mechanism by which A β inhibits lipoxidation [107] is via metal ion sequestration as described above. Free radical scavenging by Met 35 does however contribute to this effect since $A\beta_{25-35}$ (which has only weak, metal-binding properties) is able to inhibit lipid peroxidation [107] and replacement of Met35 by Leu considerably weakens the effect [88]. Supporting this effect, there is a positive correlation between CSF resistance to oxidation and its levels of AB [60], but not to the level of ascorbate, a major chainbreaking antioxidant in human CSF [119], illustrating the importance of $A\beta$ in CSF as an antioxidant. The concentration of $A\beta_{1-42}$ also correlates better with CSF oxidative resistance than that of $A\beta_{1-40}$ [60], in accordance with the stronger metal binding of $A\beta_{1-42}$ compared to $A\beta_{1-40}$ [59,67]. Moreover, Andorn and Kalaria [109] have shown that $A\beta$ peptides possess significant antioxidant activity in an ascorbate-stimulated-lipid-peroxidation assay of post-mortem human brain membrane preparations.

Neuronal cell cultures secrete a high molecular weight

Table 1								
Summary	of	evidence	that	Aβ	acts	as	an	antioxidant

	Refs.
Peptide studies	
SOD activity, dismutation of O_2^{-} to H_2O_2 (spectrophotometrically)	[92]
SOD activity, dismutation of O_2^{-1} to H_2O_2 (spectrophotometrically; pulse radiolysis)	[91]
Antioxidant activity against ascorbate-stimulated-lipid-peroxidation in post-mortem	[109]
human brain membrane preparations	
Protection against CSF and plasma lipoxidation (at nanomolar concentrations)	[107]
CSF concentrations positively correlate with CSF resistance to oxidation	[60]
Inhibition of O_2^{-1} generation and metal induced lipid peroxidation	[108]
Cellular studies	
Anti-apoptotic (at nanomolar concentrations)	[92]
PS1 overexpression induces Aβ generation and decreased ROS generation;	[110,111]
not associated with increased sensitivity to apoptosis	
PS1 transgenic mice have increased neuronal resistance to metal-induced oxidation	[112]
Monomeric AB protects neurons from Fe(II) induced toxicity (but not H_2O_2)	[108]
Animal studies	
Injection of A β into brains is not toxic to cortical neurons in young monkeys, or	[113,114]
in young or old rats	
Fibrillar $A\beta_{1-42}$ injections reduce neuronal loss in the adult rat cerebral cortex	[115]
compared with saline vehicle	
Brain $A\beta$ +iron injections are significantly less toxic than iron alone in the	[116]
adult rat cerebral cortex	

product, likely a lipoprotein complex that possesses an antioxidative activity [120]. Cu,Zn-SOD has recently been detected in, and shown to associate with serum lipoproteins (mainly low and high density lipoproteins) in a saturable fashion [121]. Thus, it is likely that Cu,Zn-SOD exerts a physiological protective role against oxidative damage of lipoproteins that transport cholesterol. Since AB also binds cholesterol present in apolipoproteins, and given the properties of A β eluded to above, it is likely that A β also may function to either scavenge 'free' redox metal ions in serum and/or act as an antioxidant. The amphiphilic properties of A β [122] would allow its insertion into the apolipoprotein and extracellular chelation of metal ions that might otherwise promote lipoprotein oxidation. Indeed, endogenous AB is largely associated with lipoproteins in CSF and plasma [123,124]. In this respect, it is of interest that $A\beta$ generation has been shown to be positively correlated with cholesterol concentration in a number of different systems including cell culture [125], hypercholesterolemia heart disease [126], AβPP-transgenic mice [127] and in Niemann-Pick type C cells [128].

A number of studies have examined the physiological effects of A β peptide after it's injection into the cerebral cortex or hippocampus of rats. Such A β injections are frequently reported to alter neuronal metabolism and to decrease the expression of neurotransmitters [129], although decreases are temporary and expression normally returns to the affected area [130]. In one of the few studies undertaken to determine quantitative measurements of neuronal loss, Frautschy et al. [131] found that infusion of A β into rat brain for 4 weeks increased the density of TUNEL-labeled profiles by 1.8-fold in piriform cortex and

1.4-fold in frontal cortex. This increase was statistically significant but numerically trivial, since the overall frequency of dying cells was very low. In another study, infusion of $A\beta$ for 1 week did not result in any TUNEL-labeled profiles around the infusion site [132].

Recent quantitative studies have shown that large injections of fibrillar human $A\beta_{1-42}$ cause less neuronal loss in the adult rat cerebral cortex than equivalent volumes of the saline vehicle [115]. Furthermore, the injection of $A\beta$ containing 1.0 mM iron is significantly less toxic than injections of 1.0 mM iron alone, while there is a trend towards significance for saline vehicle [116]. These results indicate that while AB-iron complexes (at the concentrations found in neuritic plaques) are neurotoxic, AB attenuates the neurotoxicity of iron, and therefore serves a neuroprotective function. Two semi-quantitative studies that have injected A β into the brains of monkeys also have concluded that pure $A\beta$ is not toxic to cortical neurons in young monkeys, or in young or old rats [113,114]. A β injections have however, been shown to produce neurotoxicity in aged monkeys [114]. The reason for this difference is unclear, but it may be related to the unusually high levels of extracellular iron that are present in the cortices of old monkeys compared with young monkeys and old rats [133]. Alternatively the concentrations of the complimentary antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione peroxidase and catalase may be reduced in the old primate brain and are too low to combat AB-induced ROS production.

These data support the view that $A\beta$ functions as an antioxidant and is produced for this purpose by neurons and many other cells, such as astrocytes, neuroblastoma

cells, hepatoma cells, fibroblasts, and platelets. Further, the above discussion indicates that $A\beta$ may have a metal ion binding/antioxidant role both intracellularly and extracellularly in diffuse amyloid deposits, CSF and plasma.

6. The dark side: neurotoxic and prooxidant properties of $A\beta$

The identification of A β as the major protein component of amyloid, the defining feature of AD neuropathology, led to the idea that this protein might be the cause of AD. With this in mind, much research effort has been directed at determining if this deposited protein was toxic, thereby explaining the loss of neurons and synapses in the disease. Indeed, A β has been shown to be toxic, but only convincingly so in vitro (e.g., Refs. [106,113,134–139]), and only using high concentrations of aged A β . So what is the exact mechanism of this toxicity? Does iron or copper potentiate A β neurotoxicity? We attempt to answer these questions in the following sections.

6.1. Does iron or copper potentiate $A\beta$ neurotoxicity?

Evidence supporting a neurotoxic role for $A\beta$ comes primarily from experiments on cultures of primary neuronal cells from neonatal rodents or from cultures of neuroblastoma cell lines. Such studies typically report neurotoxic effects from the addition of micromolar concentrations of A β peptide to the culture media. A β is not always neurotoxic to cultured cells however, and a closer examination of discordant studies provides an insight into the possible reasons for the neurotoxicity that has been reported in vitro. For example, when droplets of pure fibrillar A β are dried onto the surface of cell culture flasks to form artificial 'plaques' they provide excellent substrates for neurons that are subsequently plated in these flasks. Indeed, the neurons preferentially grow on these plaques and thrive [140]. By contrast, if the neurons are plated first, and $A\beta$ is then dissolved in the culture media, neurotoxicity results. This difference may be due to Fe(III) or Cu(II) which is generally present in high concentrations in culture media (neurons have a metabolic requirement for both metal ions). We have shown that high concentrations of A β incubated with Cu(II) are neurotoxic to primary neurons, but that Zn(II), which competes for Cu(II) binding sites on A β , can partially attenuate this toxicity (Fig. 1) [86,105]. Likewise, AB dissolved in Fe(III)-containing media is toxic to neurons but AB dissolved in Fe(III)-free media is not [141]. We have speculated that Fe(III) [or Cu(II)] in culture media may bind to soluble A β , and given its amphiphilic nature, bind to cell membranes thereby inducing oxidative injury [54,142,143]. This potential for toxicity may be exacerbated by the tendency for batches of resolubilized synthetic $A\beta$ to be contaminated with Fe(III) and/or Cu(II). The removal of Fe(III) by incubation of the A β with the chelator deferoxamine significantly decreases the toxicity of the peptide to neuroblastoma cells, while the toxicity of the suspended A β can be restored by addition of 0.1 mM Fe(III) [143]. Another study has confirmed that significant concentrations of Cu(II) and Fe(III) are present in synthetic samples of A β and the presence of these metals can catalyze the production of hydrogen peroxide [144].

Plaque cores contain both Cu(II) and Fe(III), but presumably the toxicity of these metals is neutralized, either by A β itself, or by the cocktail of other components bound to the plaques. It should be noted that the neurotoxic interactions that occur between A β and Fe(III) are in contrast to the neuroprotective and antioxidant functions ascribed to the low concentrations of A β -Cu(II) complexes described earlier in this review. However, under certain conditions, such as high A β concentrations, aggregation state, accessibility to lipid membranes and altered metal (Cu) binding (e.g., Cu,Cu-A β vs. Cu,Zn-A β), Cu:A β complexes are equally toxic (Fig. 1) [54,86]. Therefore, altered coordination of metal ions to A β may alter the normal redox properties of A β (see below), resulting in oxidative damage and neurotoxicity.

Perhaps most noteworthy regarding $A\beta$'s toxicitiy is that plaque cores (containing fibrillized A β , and presumably metal ions) isolated from AD brains appear to be non-toxic to cultured cells and can be degraded by microglial cells in vitro [145]. In addition, cultured retinal ganglion cells grow avidly on a substrate of plaque cores [145]. Taken together, the preceding observations suggest that when soluble AB binds and concentrates Cu(II) and Fe(III) in solution it becomes neurotoxic, whereas preformed deposits of pure A β tend to be neurotrophic. Another major caveat to the argument that $A\beta$ is toxic is that transgenic mice with massive accumulations of AB amyloid deposits (mainly diffuse) show no neuronal death [146,147], in marked contrast to in vitro findings of AB mediated neurotoxicity and apoptosis. Recently, it has been shown that expression of human tau is required in order to induce neuronal death in vitro [148], although it is not known if τ-Aβ transgenic mice will display accelerated neuronal loss.

6.2. What is the mechanism of $A\beta$ neurotoxicity in vitro?

Early studies indicated that aging the peptide [106] in order to promote the transition of the peptide from monomeric to fibrillar that results from a change in the secondary structure of the protein from random coil and α -helical to β -sheet [137,150,151] was required for toxicity [152]. However, A β fibril formation per se is not required for neurotoxicity because replacement of methionine by norleucine (see Ref. [89]) or the C-terminus with other type I transmembrane proteins [149] allows for fibril formation but is not toxic. The neurotoxic activity of $A\beta$ appear to be dependent on two main factors.

(1) Redox metal ion binding. Both Cu [54,86] and Fe [141,143] potentiate the neurotoxicity of human $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$. Conversely, metal ion chelators and Zn displacement of Cu from A β peptides protects neurons from A β toxicity in vitro [54,141,143]. Since A β in the presence of Cu(II) or Fe(III) produces H₂O₂ [85,86] A β toxicity is likely to be mediated by a direct interaction between A β and transition metals with subsequent generation of ROS (Fig. 1) [86,143]. Indeed, the amounts of TBARS reactivity are greatest when generated by $A\beta_{1-42} >> A\beta_{1-40} >$ rat $A\beta_{1-40}$, a chemical relationship that correlates with the participation of the native peptides in amyloid pathology, as well as correlates with the peptide's relative Cu binding affinity and neurotoxicity in cell culture.

Why then in earlier studies was the 'aging' (fibrillization) of A β required in order to induce neurotoxicity? In the absence of metal ions A β is monomeric, has an α -helix conformation and does not form aggregates [78,150,153]. However, trace metal ions present in laboratory buffers [67,154] promote fibrillization of A β since high-affinity chelators limit $A\beta$ fibrillization with aging (Huang, Atwood and Bush, unpublished results). This is consistent with the fact that $A\beta_{1-42}$, which is more prone to aggregation, has a higher metal ion affinity compared with $A\beta_{1-40}$ [67]. In addition, the concentration dependent toxicity of AB (typically $\geq 10 \ \mu$ M) may in part be explained by the fact that fibrillization rate is directly dependent upon AB concentration, which in turn will dictate redox metal ion binding. Thus, aggregation of AB required for neurotoxicity may in fact be due to the sequestration of redox metal ions from buffers, thereby allowing for ROS generation.

(2) Methionine 35. The neurotoxicity of $A\beta$ in vitro also is dependent upon Met35, the substitution of which for another amino acid abrogates the neurotoxicity induced by $A\beta_{1-42}$, $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{25-35}$ [155,156]. Met35 likely acts to mediate ROS generation since its substitution decreases liposome oxidation [88] and protein oxidation [155,156]. The A β_{25-35} peptide, although not a native peptide, also has been reported to exhibit H₂O₂-like reactivity towards aqueous Fe(II), nitroxide spin probes, and synaptosomal membrane proteins [157]. $A\beta_{25-35}$ also promotes ROS generation in a mitochondrial fraction from rat cortex, but only in the presence of Fe(III) or Cu(II) [158]. Rat A β , which contains $A\beta_{25-35}$ has very low toxicity. Therefore, while $A\beta_{25-35}$ may possess some of the electron transfer elements necessary to cause the redox activity observed in the intact native A β peptides, ROS generation via this oligopeptide may be through indirect mechanisms, such as the reaction with factors in the cortical membranes as studied by Bondy et al. [158].

These studies indicate that the presence of transition metals may not only be required for $A\beta$ fibrillization, but

also for the initiation of ROS generation through Met35. Recent experimental and theoretical studies have examined the exact mechanism by which $A\beta$:metal complexes might induce ROS generation. AB binding of Cu (or Fe) to its N-terminal hydrophilic metal-binding site(s) as described above allows for their reduction in its C-terminal metalreducing site to produce H_2O_2 . This mechanism suggests that in order for metal ions to be reduced, Met35 must come into contact with the C-terminus. This might be achieved by folding of the peptide or by fibrillization where metal atoms bound to the N-terminal of one A β , can be simultaneously available for the reductive Met35 residues on an adjacent AB. Cu induced radicalization of Met35 via this mechanism also would induce the generation of a stable ·C radical on the peptide backbone, likely glycine, that would then be available to participate in lipid peroxidation reactions [191]. Thus, the reduction of metal ions by A β [85,86] and of A β by other cellular reductants allows it to act as an oxidant via the production of H_2O_2 and ·C radicalization.

Taking into account these properties of A β , and its lipophilic nature, it is possible to explain the numerous publications reporting pro-oxidative and neurotoxic effects of the peptide in vitro. Synthetic $A\beta$ peptides have been shown to induce oxidation of different cellular substrates, including lipids of synaptosomes [159], lipoproteins [160], transport enzymes [161] and DNA [162]. Functionally, AB alters neuronal metabolism, inactivating glutamine synthetase and creatine kinase enzymes in brain cytosolic extract and cell free preparations [163]. A β fragments also have been shown to induce in a time- and dose-dependent manner decreases in catalase activity, and increases in Cu/Zn-SOD and Mn-SOD activities and cellular peroxides in neuronal cell cultures, a pattern that is similar to that found in the AD brain [165]. This divergent shift in antioxidant enzymes may contribute to the cascade of neuronal injury [163]. In this respect, in cell culture, $A\beta$ has been shown to exert its neurotoxicity through a mechanism that induces intracellular generation of $O_2^{-.}/$ H₂O₂ [164] and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal [161], thought to lead to calcium ion accumulation and subsequent neuronal or vascular endothelial death [164,166,167]. This toxicity is abolished by the presence of SOD [167], catalytic synthetic O_2^{-}/H_2O_2 scavengers [165], the spin-trap compound phenyl-tert.-butyl-nitrone [157], or chain-breaking antioxidants, such as vitamin E or vitamin C [89,161,168-170]. In support of these findings, neurons cultured from subjects with Down syndrome, a condition complicated by the invariable premature deposition of cerebral A β [171] and the overexpression of soluble $A\beta_{1-42}$ in early life [172], exhibit lipid peroxidation and apoptotic cell death caused by increased generation of H_2O_2 [173].

Together, the above findings are very compelling for $A\beta$ toxicity in vitro, and indicate that the accumulation of $A\beta$ in vivo may contribute directly to free radical damage in AD. There is however a paucity of data indicating $A\beta$ is

actually toxic in vivo, as most clearly illustrated by the lack of toxicity in A β PP-transgenic mice, though the latter is recognized not to be a complete model as it lacks the human form of tau and thus can not give rise to neuro-fibrillary tangles. The relevance of these mechanisms to neuronal toxicity in vivo therefore remains to be determined.

7. Transition to the dark side?

The redox properties of $A\beta$ indicate that the peptide could act as an antioxidant and a prooxidant (Fig. 1). But under what conditions would the peptide act to reduce, or increase, oxidative stress? And what is the biological role of intracellular and extracellular $A\beta$?

The increased generation of $A\beta$ by oxidative stress indicates a response to preserve normal cellular function by dampening oxidative insults. The accumulation of early or diffuse amyloid deposits could be considered an early pathological stage that limits lipid/lipoprotein oxidation, crucial for preventing neuronal apoptosis. Given the above discussion, the accumulation of amyloid plaques in cognitively normal individuals could be considered as a successful compensation to aging. Indeed, we have recently shown that AB deposition is inversely correlated with oxidative damage in the AD and DS brains [20,21,54,55]. In addition, Zn binding to AB may 'detoxify' AB by displacing Cu from the redox active site [54]. However, at some threshold level of ROS generation, efficient removal of Aβ-metal complexes would be overtaken by their disproportionably high generation, resulting in the uncontrollable growth of plaques. A β 's only known catalytic activity serves to dismutate O_2^{-} to H_2O_2 and tissues will only be protected from subsequent H2O2-mediated damage where peroxide clearance mechanisms (e.g., catalase, glutathione peroxidase) are fully competent. Thus, excessive deposition of AB:Cu may well overwhelm antioxidant defense systems incapable of handling the accumulating H₂O₂. Conversely, $A\beta$:Cu deposits would not be predicted to be neurotoxic except if H₂O₂ is produced above this threshold level of removal. This would result in a feedback loop mechanism that could exacerbate both plaque growth and ROS generation, leading to the functional demise of neurons [174]. Therefore, to accelerate oxidation, A β must be present in concentrations greatly exceeding those normally measured in biological fluids or tissues (i.e., micromolar vs. nanomolar; see Refs. [89,170]). This has been reported for cerebrospinal fluid, where AB acts as an antioxidant at peptide concentrations measured in these biological fluids (0.1–1.0 nM), while at higher A β concentrations its antioxidant action is abolished [60]. Likewise, nanomolar concentrations are anti-apoptotic, while micromolar concentrations are toxic (see previous discussion).

An analogous trophic/toxic scenario exists with Cu,Zn-

SOD (SOD1) (and ascorbate). At normal physiological concentrations, SOD1 is known to increase cellular resistance to oxidative stress [175]. However, when SOD is overexpressed at levels that are much higher than other antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione peroxidase, or the ability of cells to supply reducing equivalents, increased oxidative stress is observed [176]. Oxidative damage is likely due to the generation of \cdot OH from the interaction of accumulating H_2O_2 with redox cycling proteins (such as Cu,Zn-SOD1) via Fenton-like chemistry [177]. Similar chemistry may be involved in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, where mutant SOD aggregates in the central nervous system [178,179]. Oxidative modification by H_2O_2 of the histidine in the active site of SOD1 [180,181] and in growth hormone results in the formation of 2-oxohistidine [182,183], which is thought to led to inactivation of the enzyme and/or to further aberrant redox chemistry. Amyloid- β extracted from the AD brain also is oxidatively modified [184], however the influence of such post-translational modifications on the redox cycling of the peptide has yet to be determined.

8. Amyloid removal as a therapy?

The prominence of the 'amyloid hypothesis' of neurodegeneration has led to therapeutic strategies aimed at preventing or reversing amyloid deposition in the hope that this will stabilize and/or reverse cognitive deficits. These strategies have included attempting to inhibit either of the two proteases, β - and γ -secretase, that generate A β from A β PP [185], active or passive A β immunization [186,187], modulation of cholesterol homeostasis [188], inhibition of metal-induced AB aggregation via metal ion chelation [189] and lowering amyloid associated inflammation with anti-inflammatory drugs [190]. Examination of the known neuroprotective functions of AB described earlier would indicate that the removal of $A\beta$ would also remove the neuroprotection that AB affords. Removal of A β would be predicted to increase oxidative damage and exacerbate inflammation in the AD brain. Another likely function for A β is the maintenance of cellular integrity, the loss of which would lead to the breakdown of the bloodbrain barrier, and neuroinflammation [65]. Indeed, AB vaccination therapy in human clinical trials has not proven successful, instead leading to clinical signs of neuroinflammation (meningitis and encephalitis). These results, taken together with the known function of A β , suggest that any strategy aimed solely at removing A β will result in the loss of neuroprotection and induce subsequent side-effects.

9. Conclusion

A β possesses trophic/antioxidant and prooxidant/toxic properties that are modulated by redox metal ions. Under

normal physiological conditions, AB released in response to injury appears to be purposive by providing neuroprotection against oxidative stresses, afterwhich it is cleared. If however the rate of clearance is insufficient with respect to production (e.g., decreased neprolysin, insulin degrading enzyme, Apo E4 allele), the progressive accumulation of neuronal AB:Cu in response to oxidative challenges or $A\beta PP/PS1$ mutation induced amyloidogenesis may lead to the generation of H_2O_2 that exceeds the capacity of antioxidant defense systems. This in turn would lead to a vicious cycle of increased AB generation and ROS production. Progressive amyloid deposition also would promote microglial activation and increased respiratory burst activity (reviewed in Ref. [18]), further exacerbating amyloid deposition and ROS generation. Therefore, $A\beta$ may not be directly toxic but rather act indirectly via the generation of H₂O₂ which induces rampant oxidative damage and neuronal dysfunction.

References

- G.G. Glenner, C.W. Wong, Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 120 (1984) 885–890.
- [2] C.L. Masters, G. Simms, N.A. Weinman, G. Multhaup, B.L. McDonald, K. Beyreuther, Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82 (1985) 4245–4249.
- [3] G.G. Glenner, C.W. Wong, Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome: sharing of a unique cerebrovascular amyloid fibril protein, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 122 (1984) 1131–1135.
- [4] G.W. Roberts, S.M. Gentleman, A. Lynch, D.I. Graham, BetaA4 amyloid protein deposition in brain after head trauma, Lancet 338 (1991) 1422–1423.
- [5] L. Davies, B. Wolska, C. Hilbich, G. Multhaup, R. Martins, G. Simms, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters, A4 amyloid protein deposition and the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: prevalence in aged brains determined by immunocytochemistry compared with conventional neuropathologic techniques, Neurology 38 (1988) 1688–1693.
- [6] R. Siman, S. Mistretta, J.T. Durkin, M.J. Savage, T. Loh, S. Trusko, R.W. Scott, Processing of the beta-amyloid precursor. Multiple proteases generate and degrade potentially amyloidogenic fragments, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 16602–16609.
- [7] D. Goldgaber, M.I. Lerman, O.W. McBride, U. Saffiotti, D.C. Gajdusek, Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease, Science 235 (1987) 877–880.
- [8] J. Kang, H.G. Lemaire, A. Unterbeck, J.M. Salbaum, C.L. Masters, K.H. Grzeschik, G. Multhaup, K. Beyreuther, B. Muller-Hill, The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor, Nature 325 (1987) 733–736.
- [9] R.E. Tanzi, J.F. Gusella, P.C. Watkins, G.A. Bruns, P. St. George-Hyslop, M.L. Van Keuren, D. Patterson, S. Pagan, D.M. Kurnit, R.L. Neve, Amyloid beta protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus, Science 235 (1987) 880–884.
- [10] A. Goate, M.C. Chartier-Harlin, M. Mullan, J. Brown, F. Crawford, L. Fidani, L. Giuffra, A. Haynes, N. Irving, L. James et al., Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease, Nature 349 (1991) 704– 706.

- [11] I. Hussain, D. Powell, D.R. Howlett, D.G. Tew, T.D. Meek, C. Chapman, I.S. Gloger, K.E. Murphy, C.D. Southan, D.M. Ryan, T.S. Smith, D.L. Simmons, F.S. Walsh, C. Dingwall, G. Christie, Identification of a novel aspartic protease (Asp 2) as beta-secretase, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 14 (1999) 419–427.
- [12] S. Sinha, J.P. Anderson, R. Barbour, G.S. Basi, R. Caccavello, D. Davis, M. Doan, H.F. Dovey, N. Frigon, J. Hong, K. Jacobson-Croak, N. Jewett, P. Keim, J. Knops, I. Lieberburg, M. Power, H. Tan, G. Tatsuno, J. Tung, D. Schenk, P. Seubert, S.M. Suomensaari, S. Wang, D. Walker, V. John et al., Purification and cloning of amyloid precursor protein beta-secretase from human brain, Nature 402 (1999) 537–540.
- [13] R. Vassar, B.D. Bennett, S. Babu-Khan, S. Kahn, E.A. Mendiaz, P. Denis, D.B. Teplow, S. Ross, P. Amarante, R. Loeloff, Y. Luo, S. Fisher, J. Fuller, S. Edenson, J. Lile, M.A. Jarosinski, A.L. Biere, E. Curran, T. Burgess, J.C. Louis, F. Collins, J. Treanor, G. Rogers, M. Citron, Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE, Science 286 (1999) 735–741.
- [14] R. Yan, M.J. Bienkowski, M.E. Shuck, H. Miao, M.C. Tory, A.M. Pauley, J.R. Brashier, N.C. Stratman, W.R. Mathews, A.E. Buhl, D.B. Carter, A.G. Tomasselli, L.A. Parodi, R.L. Heinrikson, M.E. Gurney, Membrane-anchored aspartyl protease with Alzheimer's disease beta-secretase activity, Nature 402 (1999) 533–537.
- [15] M.S. Wolfe, W. Xia, B.L. Ostaszewski, T.S. Diehl, W.T. Kimberly, D.J. Selkoe, Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and gamma-secretase activity, Nature 398 (1999) 513–517.
- [16] G. Yu, M. Nishimura, S. Arawaka, D. Levitan, L. Zhang, A. Tandon, Y.Q. Song, E. Rogaeva, F. Chen, T. Kawarai, A. Supala, L. Levesque, H. Yu, D.S. Yang, E. Holmes, P. Milman, Y. Liang, D.M. Zhang, D.H. Xu, C. Sato, E. Rogaev, M. Smith, C. Janus, Y. Zhang, R. Aebersold, L.S. Farrer, S. Sorbi, A. Bruni, P. Fraser, P. St. George-Hyslop, Nicastrin modulates presenilin-mediated notch/glp-1 signal transduction and betaAPP processing, Nature 407 (2000) 48–54.
- [17] Neuroinflammation Working Group, H. Akiyama, S. Barger, S. Barnum, B. Bradt, J. Bauer, G.M. Cole, N.R. Cooper, P. Eikelenboom, M. Emmerling, B.L. Fiebich, C.E. Finch, S. Frautschy, W.S. Griffin, H. Hampel, M. Hull, G. Landreth, L. Lue, R. Mrak, I.R. Mackenzie, P.L. McGeer, M.K. O'Banion, J. Pachter, G. Pasinetti, C. Plata-Salaman, J. Rogers, R. Rydel, Y. Shen, W. Streit, R. Strohmeyer, I. Tooyoma, F.L. Van Muiswinkel, R. Veerhuis, D. Walker, S. Webster, B. Wegrzyniak, G. Wenk, T. Wyss-Coray, Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease, Neurobiol Aging. 21 (2000) 383–421.
- [18] C.S. Atwood, X. Huang, R.D. Moir, M.A. Smith, R.E. Tanzi, A.E. Roher, A.I. Bush, G. Perry, Neuroinflammatory responses in the Alzheimer's disease brain promote the oxidative post-translational modification of amyloid deposits, in: K. Iqbal, S.S. Sisodia, B. Winblad (Eds.), Alzheimer's Disease: Advances in Etiology, Pathogenesis and Therapeutics, Wiley, 2001, pp. 341–361.
- [19] M.A. Smith, A. Nunomura, X. Zhu, A. Takeda, G. Perry, Metabolic, metallic, and mitotic sources of oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 2 (2000) 413–420.
- [20] A. Nunomura, G. Perry, M.A. Pappolla, R.P. Friedland, K. Hirai, S. Chiba, M.A. Smith, Neuronal oxidative stress precedes amyloid-β deposition in Down syndrome, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 59 (11) (2000) 1011–1017.
- [21] A. Nunomura, G. Perry, G. Aliev, K. Hirai, A. Takeda, E.K. Balraj, P.K. Jones, H. Ghanbari, T. Wataya, S. Shimohama, S. Chiba, C.S. Atwood, R.B. Petersen, M.A. Smith, Oxidative damage is the earliest event in Alzheimer disease, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60 (2001) 759–767.
- [22] G. Olivieri, C. Brack, F. Muller-Spahn, H.B. Stahelin, M. Herrmann, P. Renard, M. Brockhaus, C. Hock, Mercury induces cell cytotoxicity and oxidative stress and increases beta-amyloid secretion and tau

phosphorylation in SHSY5Y neuroblastoma cells, J. Neurochem. 74 (2000) 231–236.

- [23] M.A. Smith, P.L.R. Harris, L.M. Sayre, G. Perry, Iron accumulation in Alzheimer disease is a source of redox-generated free radicals, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 9866–9868.
- [24] M.A. Smith, P.L. Richey, S. Taneda, R.K. Kutty, L.M. Sayre, V.M. Monnier, G. Perry, Advanced Maillard reaction end products, free radicals, and protein oxidation in Alzheimer's disease, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 738 (1994) 447–454.
- [25] C.S. Atwood, X. Huang, R.D. Moir, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, The role of free radicals and metal ions in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Interrelations between free radicals and metal ions in life processes, in: A. Sigel, H. Sigel (Eds.), Metal Ions in Biological Systems, Vol. 36, Marcel Dekker, New York, Basel, Hong Kong, 1999, pp. 309–364.
- [26] H. Basun, L.G. Forssell, L. Wetterberg, B. Winblad, Metals and trace elements in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease, J. Neural Transm. Park. Dis. Dement. Sect. 3 (4) (1991) 231–258, Review.
- [27] D.A. Loeffler, P.A. LeWitt, P.L. Juneau, A.A. Sima, H.U. Nguyen, A.J. DeMaggio, C.M. Brickman, G.J. Brewer, R.D. Dick, M.D. Troyer, L. Kanaley, Increased regional brain concentrations of ceruloplasmin in neurodegenerative disorders, Brain Res. 738 (1996) 265–274.
- [28] R.J. Castellani, M.A. Smith, A. Nunomura, P.L. Harris, G. Perry, Is increased redox-active iron in Alzheimer disease a failure of the copper-binding protein ceruloplasmin?, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 26 (1999) 1508–1512.
- [29] S.R. Robinson, D.F. Noone, J. Kril, G. Halliday, Most amyloid plaques contain ferritin-rich cells, Alzheimer's Res. 1 (1995) 191– 196.
- [30] Y. Xiong, Q. Gu, P.L. Peterson, J.P. Muizelaar, C.P. Lee, Mitochondrial dysfunction and calcium perturbation induced by traumatic brain injury, J. Neurotrauma 14 (1997) 23–34.
- [31] K. Abe, P.H. St. George-Hyslop, R.E. Tanzi, K. Kogure, Induction of amyloid precursor protein mRNA after heat shock in cultured human lymphoblastoid cells, Neurosci. Lett. 125 (1991) 169–171.
- [32] E.D. Hall, J.A. Oostveen, E. Dunn, D.B. Carter, Increased amyloid protein precursor and apolipoprotein E immunoreactivity in the selectively vulnerable hippocampus following transient forebrain ischemia in gerbils, Exp. Neurol. 135 (1995) 17–27.
- [33] K. Jendroska, W. Poewe, S.E. Daniel, J. Pluess, H. Iwerssen-Schmidt, J. Paulsen, S. Barthel, L. Schelosky, J. Cervos-Navarro, S.J. DeArmond, Ischemic stress induces deposition of amyloid beta immunoreactivity in human brain, Acta Neuropathol. (Berl). 90 (1995) 461–466.
- [34] N. Murakami, T. Yamaki, Y. Iwamoto, T. Sakakibara, N. Kobori, S. Fushiki, S. Ueda, Experimental brain injury induces expression of amyloid precursor protein, which may be related to neuronal loss in the hippocampus, J. Neurotrauma 15 (1998) 993–1003.
- [35] J. Shi, Y. Xiang, J.W. Simpkins, Hypoglycemia enhances the expression of mRNA encoding beta-amyloid precursor protein in rat primary cortical astroglial cells, Brain Res. 772 (1997) 247–251.
- [36] J. Shi, K.S. Panickar, S.H. Yang, O. Rabbani, A.L. Day, J.W. Simpkins, Estrogen attenuates over-expression of beta-amyloid precursor protein messenger RNA in an animal model of focal ischemia, Brain Res. 810 (1998) 87–92.
- [37] J. Shi, G. Perry, M.A. Smith, R.P. Friedland, Vascular abnormalities: the insidious pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease, Neurobiol. Aging 21 (2000) 357–361.
- [38] M. Yokota, T.C. Saido, E. Tani, I. Yamaura, N. Minami, Cytotoxic fragment of amyloid precursor protein accumulates in hippocampus after global forebrain ischemia, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 16 (1996) 1219–1223.
- [39] D. Gabuzda, J. Busciglio, L.B. Chen, P. Matsudaira, B.A. Yankner, Inhibition of energy metabolism alters the processing of amyloid precursor protein and induces a potentially amyloidogenic derivative, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 13623–13628.

- [40] M.P. Mattson, W.A. Pedersen, Effects of amyloid precursor protein derivatives and oxidative stress on basal forebrain cholinergic systems in Alzheimer's disease, Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 16 (1998) 737–753.
- [41] P.H. Frederiske, D. Garland, J.S. Zigler Jr., J. Piatigorsky, Oxidative stress increases production of β -amyloid precursor protein and β -amyloid (A β) in mammalian lenses, and A β has toxic effects on lens epithelial cells, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 10169–10174.
- [42] H. Misonou, M. Morishima-Kawashima, Y. Ihara, Oxidative stress induces intracellular accumulation of amyloid beta-protein (Abeta) in human neuroblastoma cells, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 6951–6959.
- [43] G. Olivieri, C. Hess, E. Savaskan, C. Ly, F. Meier, G. Baysang, M. Brockhaus, F. Muller-Spahn, Melatonin protects SHSY5Y neuroblastoma cells from cobalt-induced oxidative stress, neurotoxicity and increased beta-amyloid secretion, J. Pineal Res. 31 (2001) 320–325.
- [44] L. Zhang, B. Zhao, D.T. Yew, J.W. Kusiak, G.S. Roth, Processing of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein during H2O2-induced apoptosis in human neuronal cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 235 (1997) 845–848.
- [45] D. Paola, C. Domenicotti, M. Nitti, A. Vitali, R. Borghi, D. Cottalasso, D. Zaccheo, P. Odetti, P. Strocchi, U.M. Marinari, M. Tabaton, M.A. Pronzato, Oxidative stress induces increase in intracellular amyloid beta-protein production and selective activation of betaI and betaII PKCs in NT2 cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 268 (2000) 642–646.
- [46] S.D. Yan, S.F. Yan, X. Chen, J. Fu, M. Chen, P. Kuppusamy, M.A. Smith, G. Perry, G.C. Godman, P. Nawroth et al., Non-enzymatically glycated tau in Alzheimer's disease induces neuronal oxidant stress resulting in cytokine gene expression and release of amyloid beta-peptide, Nat. Med. 1 (1995) 693–699.
- [47] A.M. Dharmarajan, S. Hisheh, B. Singh, S. Parkinson, K.I. Tilly, J.L. Tilly, Antioxidants mimic the ability of chorionic gonadotropin to suppress apoptosis in the rabbit corpus luteum in vitro: a novel role for superoxide dismutase in regulating bax expression, Endocrinol. J. 2 (1999) 295–303.
- [48] J.S. Hesla, T. Miyazaki, L.M. Dasko, E.E. Wallach, A.M. Dharmarajan, Superoxide dismutase activity, lipid peroxide production and corpus luteum steroidogenesis during natural luteolysis and regression induced by oestradiol deprivation of the ovary in pseudopregnant rabbits, J. Reprod. Fertil. 95 (1992) 915–924.
- [49] A. LeBlanc, Related articles increased production of 4 kDa amyloid beta peptide in serum deprived human primary neuron cultures: possible involvement of apoptosis, J. Neurosci. 15 (1995) 7837– 7846.
- [50] S.S. Petanceska, V. Nagy, D. Frail, S. Gandy, Ovariectomy and 17beta-estradiol modulate the levels of Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptides in brain, Neurology 54 (12) (2000) 2212–2217.
- [51] H. Xu, G.K. Gouras, J.P. Greenfield, B. Vincent, J. Naslund, L. Mazzarelli, G. Fried, J.N. Jovanovic, M. Seeger, N.R. Relkin, F. Liao, F. Checler, J.D. Buxbaum, B.T. Chait, G. Thinakaran, S.S. Sisodia, R. Wang, P. Greengard, S. Gandy, Estrogen reduces neuronal generation of Alzheimer beta-amyloid peptides, Nat. Med. 4 (1998) 447–451.
- [52] E.A. Milward, R. Papadopoulos, S.J. Fuller, R.D. Moir R.D., D. Small, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters, The amyloid protein precursor of Alzheimer's disease is a mediator of the effects of nerve growth factor on neurite outgrowth, Neuron 9 (1992) 129–137.
- [53] A. Kamal, A. Almenar-Queralt, J.F. LeBlanc, E.A. Roberts, L.S. Goldstein, Kinesin-mediated axonal transport of a membrane compartment containing beta-secretase and presenilin-1 requires APP, Nature 414 (2001) 643–648.
- [54] M.P. Cuajungco, L.E. Goldstein, A. Nunomura, M.A. Smith, J.T. Lim, C.S. Atwood, X. Huang, Y.W. Farrag, G. Perry, A.I. Bush, Evidence that the β -amyloid plaques of Alzheimer's disease represent the redox-silencing and entombment of A β by zinc, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 19439–19442.

- [55] A. Nunomura, G. Perry, K. Hirai, G. Aliev, A. Takeda, S. Chiba, M.A. Smith, Neuronal RNA oxidation in Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 893 (1999) 362–364.
- [56] M.A. Smith, J.A. Joseph, G. Perry, Arson: tracking the culprit in Alzheimer's disease, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 924 (2000) 35–38.
- [57] L.F. Lue, Y.M. Kuo, A.E. Roher, L. Brachova, Y. Shen, L. Sue, T. Beach, J.H. Kurth, R.E. Rydel, J. Rogers, Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease, Am. J. Pathol. 155 (1999) 853–862.
- [58] M.K. Shigenaga, T.M. Hagen, B.N. Ames, Oxidative damage and mitochondrial decay in aging, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 10771–10778.
- [59] C.S. Atwood, X. Huang, R.D. Moir, N.M. Bacarra, D. Romano, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, Dramatic aggregation of Alzheimer Aβ by Cu(II) is induced by conditions representing physiological acidosis, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 12817–12826.
- [60] A. Kontush, N. Donarski, U. Beisiegel, Resistance of human cerebrospinal fluid to in vitro oxidation is directly related to its amyloid-beta content, Free Radic. Res. 35 (2001) 507–517.
- [61] S.M. Gentleman, M.J. Nash, C.J. Sweeting, D.I. Graham, G.W. Roberts, Beta-amyloid precursor protein (beta APP) as a marker for axonal injury after head injury, Neurosci. Lett. 160 (1993) 139–144.
- [62] S.M. Gentleman, D.I. Graham, G.W. Roberts, Molecular pathology of head trauma: altered beta APP metabolism and the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease, Prog. Brain Res. 96 (1993) 237–246.
- [63] C.A. Raby, M.C. Morganti-Kossmann, T. Kossmann, P.F. Stahel, M.D. Watson, L.M. Evans, P.D. Mehta, K. Spiegel, Y.M. Kuo, A.E. Roher, M.R. Emmerling, Traumatic brain injury increases betaamyloid peptide 1–42 in cerebrospinal fluid, J. Neurochem. 71 (1998) 2505–2509.
- [64] S.M. Gentleman, B.D. Greenberg, M.J. Savage, M. Noori, S.J. Newman, G.W. Roberts, W.S. Griffin, D.I. Graham, A beta 42 is the predominant form of amyloid beta-protein in the brains of shortterm survivors of head injury, Neuroreport 8 (1997) 1519–1522.
- [65] C.S. Atwood, G.M. Bishop, G. Perry, M.A. Smith, A vascular sealant that protects against hemorrhage?, J. Neurosci. Res. 70 (2002) 356.
- [66] C.S. Atwood, G. Perry, M.A. Smith, M. Pfeifer, S. Boncristiano, L. Bondolfi, A. Stalder, T. Deller, M. Staufenbiel, P.M. Mathews, M. Jucker, Cerebral hemorrhage and amyloid-beta, Science 299 (2003) 1014.
- [67] C.S. Atwood, R.C. Scarpa, X. Huang, R.D. Moir, W.D. Jones, D.P. Fairlie, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, Characterization of copper interactions with Alzheimer amyloid beta peptides: identification of an attomolar-affinity copper binding site on amyloid beta1–42, J. Neurochem. 75 (2000) 1219–1233.
- [68] T. Miura, K. Suzuki, N. Kohata, H. Takeuchi, Metal binding modes of Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide in insoluble aggregates and soluble complexes, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 7024–7031.
- [69] C.C. Curtain, F. Ali, I. Volitakis, R.A. Cherny, R.S. Norton, K. Beyreuther, C.J. Barrow, C.L. Masters, A.I. Bush, K.J. Barnham, Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta binds copper and zinc to generate an allosterically ordered membrane-penetrating structure containing superoxide dismutase-like subunits, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 20466–20473.
- [70] M.A. Lovell, J.D. Robertson, W.J. Teesdale, J.L. Campbell, W.R. Markesbery, Copper, iron and zinc in Alzheimer's disease senile plaques, J. Neurol. Sci. 158 (1998) 47–52.
- [71] K. Hsiao, P. Chapman, S. Nilsen, C. Eckman, Y. Harigaya, S. Younkin, F. Yang, G. Cole, Correlative memory deficits, Abeta elevation, and amyloid plaques in transgenic mice, Science 274 (1996) 99–102.
- [72] J. Dong, C.S. Atwood, V.E. Anderson, S.L. Siedlak, G. Perry, M.A. Smith, P.R. Carey, Metal binding and oxidation of amyloid-β within isolated senile plaque cores: raman microscopic evidence, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 2768–2773.
- [73] A.I. Bush, W.H. Pettingell Jr., M.D. Paradis, R.E. Tanzi, Modulation

of A beta adhesiveness and secretase site cleavage by zinc, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 12152-12158.

- [74] A.I. Bush, W.H. Pettingell, G. Multhau, M. Paradis, J.P. Vonsattel, J.F. Gusella, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters, R.E. Tanzi, Rapid induction of Alzheimer A beta amyloid formation by zinc, Science 265 (1994) 1464–1467.
- [75] X. Huang, C.S. Atwood, R.D. Moir, M.A. Hartshorn, J.P. Vonsattel, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, Zinc-induced Alzheimer's Abeta1–40 aggregation is mediated by conformational factors, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 26464–26470.
- [76] Y. Yoshiike, K. Tanemura, O. Murayama, T. Akagi, M. Murayama, S. Sato, X. Sun, N. Tanaka, A. Takashima, New insights on how metals disrupt amyloid beta-aggregation and their effects on amyloid-beta cytotoxicity, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 32293–32299.
- [77] E.M. Johnstone, M.O. Chaney, F.H. Norris, R. Pascual, S.P. Little, Conservation of the sequence of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid peptide in dog, polar bear and five other mammals by cross-species polymerase chain reaction analysis, Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 10 (1991) 299–305.
- [78] S.T. Liu, G. Howlett, C.J. Barrow, Histidine-13 is a crucial residue in the zinc ion-induced aggregation of the A beta peptide of Alzheimer's disease, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 9373–9378.
- [79] J. Busciglio, D.H. Gabuzda, P. Matsudaira, B.A. Yankner, Generation of beta-amyloid in the secretory pathway in neuronal and nonneuronal cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90 (1993) 2092– 2096.
- [80] R.A. Cherny, J.T. Legg, C.A. McLean, D.P. Fairlie, X. Huang, C.S. Atwood, K. Beyreuther, R.E. Tanzi, C.L. Masters, A.I. Bush, Aqueous dissolution of Alzheimer's disease Aβ amyloid deposits by biometal depletion, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 23223–23228.
- [81] A. Barnea, G. Cho, Evidence that copper-amino acid complexes are potent stimulators of the release of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone from isolated hypothalamic granules, Endocrinology 115 (1984) 936–943.
- [82] S.Y. Assaf, S.H. Chung, Release of endogenous Zn2+ from brain tissue during activity, Nature 308 (1984) 734–736.
- [83] G.A. Howell, M.G. Welch, C.J. Frederickson, Stimulation-induced uptake and release of zinc in hippocampal slices, Nature 308 (1984) 736–738.
- [84] S.I. Dikalov, M.P. Vitek, K.R. Maples, R.P. Mason, Amyloid beta peptides do not form peptide-derived free radicals spontaneously, but can enhance metal-catalyzed oxidation of hydroxylamines to nitroxides, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 9392–9399.
- [85] X. Huang, C.S. Atwood, M.A. Hartshorn, G. Multhaup, L.E. Goldstein, R.C. Scarpa, M.P. Cuajungco, D.N. Gray, J. Lim, R.D. Moir, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, The Aβ peptide of Alzheimer's disease directly produces hydrogen peroxide through metal ion reduction, Biochemisty 38 (1999) 7609–7616.
- [86] X. Huang, M.P. Cuajungco, C.S. Atwood, M.A. Hartshorn, J. Tyndall, G.R. Hanson, K.C. Stokes, G. Multhaup, L.E. Goldstein, R.C. Scarpa, A.J. Saunders, J. Lim, R.D. Moir, C. Glabe, E.F. Bowden, C.L. Masters, D.P. Fairlie, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, Alzheimer Aβ interaction with Cu(II) induces neurotoxicity, radicalization, metal reduction and hydrogen peroxide formation, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 37111–37116.
- [87] M.P. Mattson, E.P. Mattson, Amyloid peptide enhances nail rusting: novel insight into mechanisms of aging and Alzheimer's disease, Ageing Res. Rev. 1 (2002) 327–330.
- [88] J. Walter, J. Grunberg, A. Capell, B. Pesold, A. Schindzielorz, M. Citron, K. Mendla, P. St. George-Hyslop, G. Multhaup, D.J. Selkoe, C. Haass, Proteolytic processing of the Alzheimer disease-associated presenilin-1 generates an in vivo substrate for protein kinase C, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 5349–5354.
- [89] S. Varadarajan, S. Yatin, M. Aksenova, D.A. Butterfield, Review: Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide-associated free radical oxidative stress and neurotoxicity, J. Struct. Biol. 130 (2000) 184–208, Review.

- [90] T.J. Lyons, E.B. Gralla, J.S. Valentine, Biological chemistry of copper-zinc superoxide dismutase and its link to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Metal Ions Biol. Systems 36 (1999) 125–177.
- [91] A.I. Bush, T. Lynch, R.C. Cherny, C.S. Atwood, L.E. Goldstein, R.D. Moir, Q.-X. Li, D.E. Cabelli, G. Multhaup, C.L. Masters, R.E. Tanzi, X. Huang, Alzheimer Aβ functions as a superoxide antioxidant in vitro and in vivo, Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 25 (1999) 14.
- [92] C.-W. Chan, A. Dharmarajan, C.S. Atwood, X. Huang, R.E. Tanzi, A.I. Bush, R.N. Martins, Anti-apoptotic action of Alzheimer Aβ, Alzheimer's Reports 2 (1999) 1–6.
- [93] T. Tomiyama, A. Shoji, K. Kataoka, Y. Suwa, S. Asano, H. Kaneko, N. Endo, Inhibition of amyloid beta protein aggregation and neurotoxicity by rifampicin. Its possible function as a hydroxyl radical scavenger, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 6839–6844.
- [94] M. Soriani, D. Pietraforte, M. Minetti, Antioxidant potential of anaerobic human plasma: role of serum albumin and thiols as scavengers of carbon radicals, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 312 (1994) 180–188.
- [95] S.M. Lynch, B. Frei, Physiological thiol compounds exert pro- and anti-oxidant effects, respectively, on iron- and copper-dependent oxidation of human low-density lipoprotein, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1345 (1997) 215–221.
- [96] C. Behl, J. Davis, G.M. Cole, D. Schubert, Vitamin E protects nerve cells from amyloid beta protein toxicity, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 186 (1992) 944–950.
- [97] B. Kaltschmidt, M. Uherek, H. Wellmann, B. Volk, C. Kaltschmidt, Inhibition of NF-kappaB potentiates amyloid beta-mediated neuronal apoptosis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (1999) 9409–9414.
- [98] E.H. Koo, L. Park, D.J. Selkoe, Amyloid beta-protein as a substrate interacts with extracellular matrix to promote neurite outgrowth, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90 (1993) 4748–4752.
- [99] Y. Luo, T. Sunderland, G.S. Roth, B. Wolozin, Physiological levels of beta-amyloid peptide promote PC12 cell proliferation, Neurosci. Lett. 217 (1996) 125–128.
- [100] R.B. Postuma, W. He, J. Nunan, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters, C.J. Barrow, D.H. Small, Substrate-bound beta-amyloid peptides inhibit cell adhesion and neurite outgrowth in primary neuronal cultures, J. Neurochem. 74 (2000) 1122–1130.
- [101] V.K. Singh, J.F. Cheng, S.J. Leu, Effect of substance P and protein kinase inhibitors on beta-amyloid peptide-induced proliferation of cultured brain cells, Brain Res. 660 (1994) 353–356.
- [102] D.T. Stephenson, K. Rash, J.A. Clemens, Amyloid precursor protein accumulates in regions of neurodegeneration following focal cerebral ischemia in the rat, Brain Res. 593 (1992) 128–135.
- [103] T. Takenouchi, E. Munekata, Trophic effects of substance P and beta-amyloid peptide on dibutyryl cyclic AMP-differentiated human leukemic (HL-60) cells, Life Sci. 56 (1995) PL479–484.
- [104] J.S. Whitson, D.J. Selkoe, C.W. Cotman, Amyloid beta protein enhances the survival of hippocampal neurons in vitro, Science 243 (1989) 1488–1490.
- [105] J.S. Whitson, C.G. Glabe, E. Shintani, A. Abcar, C.W. Cotman, Beta-amyloid protein promotes neuritic branching in hippocampal cultures, Neurosci. Lett. 110 (1990) 319–324.
- [106] B.A. Yankner, L.K. Duffy, D.A. Kirschner, Neurotrophic and neurotoxic effects of amyloid beta protein: reversal by tachykinin neuropeptides, Science 250 (1990) 279–282.
- [107] A. Kontush, C. Berndt, W. Weber, V. Akopyan, S. Arlt, S. Schippling, U. Beisiegel, Amyloid-beta is an antioxidant for lipoproteins in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 30 (1) (2001) 119–128.
- [108] K. Zou, J.S. Gong, K. Yanagisawa, M. Michikawa, A novel function of monomeric amyloid beta-protein serving as an antioxidant molecule against metal-induced oxidative damage, J. Neurosci. 22 (2002) 4833–4841.
- [109] A.C. Andorn, R.N. Kalaria, Factors affecting pro- and anti-oxidant properties of fragments of the β-protein precursor (βPP): implication for Alzheimer's disease, J. Alzheimer's Dis. 2 (2000) 69–78.

- [110] G.E. Gibson, H. Zhang, K.R. Sheu, L.C. Park, Differential alterations in antioxidant capacity in cells from Alzheimer patients, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1502 (2000) 319–329.
- [111] S. Bursztajn, R. DeSouza, D.L. McPhie, S.A. Berman et al., Overexpression in neurons of human presenilin-1 or a presenilin-1 familial Alzheimer disease mutant does not enhance apoptosis, J. Neurosci. 18 (1998) 9790–9799.
- [112] S. Leutner, C. Czech, K. Schindowski, N. Touchet, A. Eckert, W.E. Muller, Reduced antioxidant enzyme activity in brains of mice transgenic for human presenilin-1 with single or multiple mutations, Neurosci. Lett. 292 (2000) 87–90.
- [113] C. Geula, C.K. Wu, D. Saroff, A. Lorenzo, M. Yuan, B.A. Yankner, Aging renders the brain vulnerable to amyloid β-protein neurotoxicity, Nat. Med. 4 (1998) 827–831.
- [114] A.C. McKee, N.W. Kowall, J.S. Schumacher, M.F. Beal, The neurotoxicity of amyloid β protein in aged primates, Amyloid 5 (1998) 1–9.
- [115] G.M. Bishop, S.R. Robinson, Deposits of fibrillar Aβ do not cause neuronal loss or ferritin expression in adult rat brain, J. Neural Transm. 110 (2003) 381–400.
- [116] G.M. Bishop, S.R. Robinson, β -Amyloid helps to protect neurons from oxidative stress, Neurobiol. Aging 21 (Suppl. 1S) (2000) S226.
- [117] Q. Guo, W. Fu, B.L. Sopher, M.W. Miller, C.B. Ware, G.M. Martin, M.P. Mattson, Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons to excitotoxic necrosis in presentiin-1 mutant knock-in mice, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 101–106.
- [118] Q. Guo, L. Sebastian, B.L. Sopher, M.W. Miller, C.B. Ware, G.M. Martin, M.P. Mattson, Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons from presenilin-1 mutant knock-in mice to amyloid betapeptide toxicity: central roles of superoxide production and caspase activation, J. Neurochem. 72 (1999) 1019–1029.
- [119] K. Lonnrot, T. Metsa-Ketela, G. Molnar, J.P. Ahonen, M. Latvala, J. Peltola, T. Pietila, H. Alho, The effect of ascorbate and ubiquinone supplementation on plasma and CSF total antioxidant capacity, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 21 (1996) 211–217.
- [120] C. Berndt, A. Kontush, U. Beisiegel, Neuronal cell cultures protect low density lipoprotein from oxidation, Neurobiol. Aging 19 (1998) S284.
- [121] P. Mondola, M. Bifulco, R. Seru, T. Annella, M.R. Ciriolo, M. Santillo, Presence of CuZn superoxide dismutase in human serum lipoproteins, FEBS Lett. 467 (No. 1) (2000) 57–60.
- [122] R. Brasseur, T. Pillot, L. Lins, J. Vandekerckhove, M. Rosseneu, Peptides in membranes: tipping the balance of membrane stability, Trends Biochem. Sci. 22 (1997) 167–171, Review.
- [123] A. Koudinov, E. Matsubara, B. Franione, J. Ghiso, The soluble form of Alzheimer's amyloid beta protein is complexed to high density lipoprotein 3 and very high density lipoprotein in normal human plasma, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 205 (1994) 1164–1171.
- [124] A.R. Koudinov, N.V. Koudinova, A. Kumar, R.C. Beavis, J. Ghiso, Biochemical characterization of Alzheimer's soluble amyloid beta protein in human cerebrospinal fluid: association with high density lipoproteins, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 223 (1996) 592– 597.
- [125] M. Simons, P. Keller, B. De Strooper, K. Beyreuther, C.G. Dotti, K. Simons, Cholesterol depletion inhibits the generation of betaamyloid in hippocampal neurons, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 6460–6464.
- [126] D.L. Sparks, S.W. Scheff, J.C. Hunsaker 3rd, H. Liu, T. Landers, D.R. Gross, Induction of Alzheimer-like beta-amyloid immunoreactivity in the brains of rabbits with dietary cholesterol, Exp. Neurol. 126 (1994) 88–94.
- [127] L.M. Refolo, M.A. Pappolla, J. LaFrancois, B. Malester, S.D. Schmidt, T. Thomas-Bryant, G.S. Tint, R. Wang, M. Mercken, S.S. Petanceska, K.E. Duff, A cholesterol-lowering drug reduces beta-amyloid pathology in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, Neurobiol. Dis. 8 (2001) 890–899.

- [128] T. Yamazaki, T.Y. Chang, C. Haass, Y. Ihara, Accumulation and aggregation of amyloid beta-protein in late endosomes of Niemann–Pick type C cells, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 4454– 4460.
- [129] L. Giovannelli, F. Casamenti, C. Scali, L. Bartolini, G. Pepeu, Differential effects of amyloid peptides β -(1–40) and β -(25–35) injections into the rat nucleus basalis, Neuroscience 66 (1995) 781–792.
- [130] L. Giovannelli, C. Scali, M.S. Faussone-Pellegrini, G. Pepeu, F. Casamenti, Long-term changes in the aggregation state and toxic effects of β-amyloid injected into the rat brain, Neuroscience 87 (1998) 349–357.
- [131] S.A. Frautschy, F. Yang, M. Irrizarry, B. Hyman, T.C. Saido, K. Hsiao, G.M. Cole, Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice, Am. J. Pathol. 152 (1998) 307–317.
- [132] L.A. Holcomb, M.N. Gordon, S.A. Benkovic, D.G. Morgan, Aβ and perlecan in rat brain: glial activation, gradual clearance and limited neurotoxicity, Mech. Ageing Dev. 112 (2000) 135–152.
- [133] S.R. Fox, G.M. Bishop, S.R. Robinson, High levels of microglial iron in the cortices of old primates: implications for the neurotoxicity of β-amyloid, Proc. Aust. Neurosci. Soc. 10 (1999) 213.
- [134] A.T. Malouf, Effect of beta amyloid peptides on neurons in hippocampal slice cultures, Neurobiol. Aging 13 (1992) 543–551.
- [135] C.J. Pike, A.J. Walencewicz, C.G. Glabe, C.W. Cotman, Aggregation-related toxicity of synthetic beta-amyloid protein in hippocampal cultures, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 207 (1991) 367–368.
- [136] C.J. Pike, D. Burdick, A.J. Walencewicz, C.G. Glabe, C.W. Cotman, Neurodegeneration induced by beta-amyloid peptides in vitro: the role of peptide assembly state, J. Neurosci. 13 (1993) 1676–1687.
- [137] L.K. Simmons, P.C. May, K.J. Tomaselli, R.E. Rydel, K.S. Fuson, E.F. Brigham, S. Wright, I. Lieberburg, G.W. Becker, D.N. Brems et al., Secondary structure of amyloid beta peptide correlates with neurotoxic activity in vitro, Mol. Pharmacol. 45 (1994) 373–379.
- [138] K. Ueda, T. Saitoh, H. Mori, Tissue-dependent alternative splicing of mRNA for NACP, the precursor of non-A beta component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 205 (1994) 1366–1372.
- [139] M.P. Lambert, A.K. Barlow, B.A. Chromy, C. Edwards, R. Freed, M. Liosatos, T.E. Morgan, I. Rozovsky, B. Trommer, K.L. Viola, P. Wals, C. Zhang, C.E. Finch, G.A. Krafft, W.L. Klein, Diffusible, nonfibrillar ligands derived from Abeta1–42 are potent central nervous system neurotoxins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (11) (1998) 6448–6453.
- [140] J.R. Wujek, M.D. Dority, R.C. Frederickson, K.R. Brunden, Deposits of A beta fibrils are not toxic to cortical and hippocampal neurons in vitro, Neurobiol. Aging 17 (1996) 107–113.
- [141] D. Schubert, M. Chevion, The role of iron in beta amyloid toxicity, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 216 (1995) 702–707.
- [142] S.R. Robinson, G.M. Bishop, Amyloid beta as a bioflocculant: implications for the amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease, Neurobiol. Aging 23 (2002) 1051–1072.
- [143] C.A. Rottkamp, A.K. Raina, X. Zhu, E. Gaier, A.I. Bush, C.S. Atwood, M. Chevion, G. Perry, M.A. Smith, Redox-active iron mediates amyloid-β toxicity, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 30 (2001) 447–450.
- [144] S. Turnbull, B.J. Tabner, O.M. El-Agnaf, L.J. Twyman, D. Allsop, New evidence that the Alzheimer β-amyloid peptide does not spontaneously form free radicals: an ESR study using a series of spin-traps, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 30 (2001) 1154–1162.
- [145] D.A. DeWitt, G. Perry, M. Cohen, C. Doller, J. Silver, Astrocytes regulate microglial phagocytosis of senile plaque cores of Alzheimer's disease, Exp. Neurol. 149 (1998) 329–340.
- [146] M.C. Irizarry, M. McNamara, K. Fedorchak, K. Hsiao, B.T. Hyman, APPSw transgenic mice develop age-related A beta deposits and neuropil abnormalities, but no neuronal loss in CA1, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 56 (1997) 965–973.

- [147] M.C. Irizarry, F. Soriano, M. McNamara, K.J. Page, D. Schenk, D. Games, B.T. Hyman, Aβ deposition is associated with neuropil changes, but not with overt neuronal loss in the human amyloid precursor protein V717F (PDAPP) transgenic mouse, J. Neurosci. 17 (1997) 7053–7059.
- [148] M. Rapoport, H.N. Dawson, L.I. Binder, M.P. Vitek, A. Ferreira, Tau is essential to beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99 (2002) 6364–6369.
- [149] B. Soreghan, C. Pike, R. Kayed, W. Tian, S. Milton, C. Cotman, C.G. Glabe, The influence of the carboxyl terminus of the Alzheimer Abeta peptide on its confirmation, aggregation, and neurotoxic properties, Neuromolecular Med. 1 (2002) 81–94.
- [150] C.J. Barrow, A. Yasuda, P.T. Kenny, M.G. Zagorski, Solution conformations and aggregational properties of synthetic amyloid beta-peptides of Alzheimer's disease. Analysis of circular dichroism spectra, J. Mol. Biol. 225 (1992) 1075–1093.
- [151] M.G. Zagorski, C.J. Barrow, NMR studies of amyloid beta-peptides: proton assignments, secondary structure, and mechanism of an alpha-helix—beta-sheet conversion for a homologous, 28-residue. N-terminal fragment, Biochemistry 31 (24) (1992) 5621– 5631.
- [152] L.L. Iversen, R.J. Mortishire-Smith, S.J. Pollack, M.S. Shearman, The toxicity in vitro of beta-amyloid protein, Biochem. J. 311 (1995) 1–16, Review.
- [153] C.J. Barrow, M.G. Zagorski, Solution structures of beta peptide and its constituent fragments: relation to amyloid deposition, Science 253 (1991) 179–182.
- [154] R.D. Moir, C.S. Atwood, D.M. Romano, M.H. Laurans, X. Huang, A.I. Bush, J.D. Smith, R.E. Tanzi, Differential effects of apolipoprotein E isoforms on metal-induced aggregation of A beta using physiological concentrations, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 4595–4603.
- [155] S. Varadarajan, S. Yatin, J. Kanski, F. Jahanshahi, D.A. Butterfield, Methionine residue 35 is important in amyloid beta-peptide-associated free radical oxidative stress, Brain Res. Bull. 50 (1999) 133–141.
- [156] S. Varadarajan, J. Kanski, M. Aksenova, C. Lauderback, D.A. Butterfield, Different mechanisms of oxidative stress and neurotoxicity for Alzheimer's A beta(1–42) and A beta(25–35), J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123 (2001) 5625–5631.
- [157] D.A. Butterfield, L. Martin, J.M. Carney, K. Hensley, A beta (25–35) peptide displays H2O2-like reactivity towards aqueous Fe2+, nitroxide spin probes, and synaptosomal membrane proteins, Life Sci. 58 (1996) 217–228.
- [158] S.C. Bondy, S.X. Guo-Ross, A.T. Truong, Promotion of transition metal-induced reactive oxygen species formation by beta-amyloid, Brain Res. 799 (1998) 91–96.
- [159] D.A. Butterfield, K. Hensley, M. Harris, M. Mattson, J. Carney, Beta-amyloid peptide free radical fragments initiate synaptosomal lipoperoxidation in a sequence-specific fashion: implications to Alzheimer's disease, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 200 (1994) 710–715.
- [160] S. Arlt, B. Finckh, U. Beisiegel, A. Kontush, Time-course of oxidation of lipids in human cerebrospinal fluid in vitro, Free Radic. Res. 32 (2000) 103–114.
- [161] R.J. Mark, M.A. Lovell, W.R. Markesbery, K. Uchida, M.P. Mattson, A role for 4-hydroxynonenal, an aldehydic product of lipid peroxidation, in disruption of ion homeostasis and neuronal death induced by amyloid beta-peptide, J. Neurochem. 68 (1997) 255–264.
- [162] J. Xu, S. Chen, G. Ku, S.H. Ahmed, J. Xu, H. Chen, C.Y. Hsu, Amyloid beta peptide-induced cerebral endothelial cell death involves mitochondrial dysfunction and caspase activation, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 21 (2001) 702–710.
- [163] K. Hensley, J.M. Carney, M.P. Mattson, M. Aksenova, M. Harris, J.F. Wu, R.A. Floyd, D.A. Butterfield, A model for beta-amyloid aggregation and neurotoxicity based on free radical generation by the peptide: relevance to Alzheimer disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 3270–3274.

- [164] C. Behl, J.B. Davis, R. Lesley, D. Schubert, Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity, Cell 77 (1994) 817–827.
- [165] W. Gsell, R. Conrad, M. Hickethier, E. Sofic, L. Frolich, I. Wichart, K. Jellinger, G. Moll, G. Ransmayr, H. Beckmann et al., Decreased catalase activity but unchanged superoxide dismutase activity in brains of patients with dementia of Alzheimer type, J. Neurochem. 64 (1995) 1216–1223.
- [166] K. Hensley, N. Hall, R. Subramaniam, P. Cole, M. Harris, M. Aksenov, M. Aksenova, S.P. Gabbita, J.F. Wu, J.M. Carney et al., Brain regional correspondence between Alzheimer's disease histopathology and biomarkers of protein oxidation, J. Neurochem. 65 (1995) 2146–2156.
- [167] T. Thomas, G. Thomas, C. McLendon, T. Sutton, M. Mullan, Beta-amyloid-mediated vasoactivity and vascular endothelial damage, Nature 380 (1996) 168–171.
- [168] M.P. Mattson, Y. Goodman, Different amyloidogenic peptides share a similar mechanism of neurotoxicity involving reactive oxygen species and calcium, Brain Res. 676 (1995) 219–224.
- [169] R.J. Mark, E.M. Blanc, M.P. Mattson, Amyloid beta-peptide and oxidative cellular injury in Alzheimer's disease, Mol. Neurobiol. 12 (1996) 211–224.
- [170] W.R. Markesbery, Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 23 (1) (1997) 134–147.
- [171] B. Rumble, R. Retallack, C. Hilbich, G. Simms, G. Multhaup, R. Martins, A. Hockey, P. Montgomery, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters, Amyloid A4 protein and its precursor in Down's syndrome and Alzheimer's disease, New Engl. J. Med. 320 (1989) 1446–1452.
- [172] J.K. Teller, C. Russo, L.M. DeBusk, G. Angelini, D. Zaccheo, F. Dagna-Bricarelli, P. Scartezzini, S. Bertolini, D.M. Mann, M. Tabaton, P. Gambetti, Presence of soluble amyloid beta-peptide precedes amyloid plaque formation in Down's syndrome, Nat. Med. 2 (1996) 93–95.
- [173] J. Busciglio, B.A. Yankner, Apoptosis and increased generation of reactive oxygen species in Down's syndrome neurons in vitro, Nature 378 (1995) 776–779.
- [174] A.I. Bush, Metals and neuroscience, Curr Opin. Chem. Biol. 4 (2000) 184–191.
- [175] P. Amstad, A. Peskin, G. Shah, M.E. Mirault, R. Moret, I. Zbinden, P. Cerutti, The balance between Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase and catalase affects the sensitivity of mouse epidermal cells to oxidative stress, Biochemistry 30 (38) (1991) 9305–9313.
- [176] S. Zhong, K. Wu, I.B. Black, D.G. Schaar, Characterization of the genomic structure of the mouse APLP1 gene, Genomics 32 (1996) 159–162.
- [177] K. Sato, T. Akaike, M. Kohno, M. Ando, H. Maeda, Hydroxyl radical production by H2O2 plus Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase reflects the activity of free copper released from the oxidatively damaged enzyme, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (35) (1992) 25371–25377.
- [178] L.I. Bruijn, M.K. Houseweart, S. Kato, K.L. Anderson, S.L. Anderson, E. Ohama, A.G. Reaume, R.W. Scott, D.W. Cleveland, Aggregation and motor neuron toxicity of an ALS-linked SOD1 mutant independent from wild-type SOD1, Science 281 (1998) 1851–1854.
- [179] J.J. Goto, E.B. Gralla, J.S. Valentine, D.E. Cabelli, Reactions of hydrogen peroxide with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

mutant human copper-zinc superoxide dismutases studied by pulse radiolysis, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 30104-30109.

- [180] R.C. Bray, S.A. Cockle, E.M. Fielden, P.B. Roberts, G. Rotillo, L. Calabrese, Reduction and inactivation of superoxide dismutase by hydrogen peroxide, Biochem. J. 139 (1974) 43–48.
- [181] D.M. Blech, C.L.J. Borders, Hydroperoxide anion, HO-2, is an affinity reagent for the inactivation of yeast Cu. Zn-superoxide dismutase: modification of one histidine per subunit, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 224 (1983) 579–586.
- [182] K. Uchida, S. Kawakishi, Identification of oxidized histidine generated at the active site of Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase exposed to H₂O₂, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 2405–2410.
- [183] F. Zhao, E. Ghezzo-Schomeich, G.I. Aced, J. Hong, T. Milby, C. Schoneich, Metal-catalyzed oxidation of histidine in human growth hormone, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 9019–9029.
- [184] C.S. Atwood, R.D. Moir, W.D. Jones, X. Huang, G. Perry, R.E. Tanzi, A.E. Roher, A.I. Bush, Human amyloid-derived A β contains tyrosine cross-linked oligomers, Neurobiol. Aging 21 (2000) S199.
- [185] C. Haass, B. De Strooper, The presenilins in Alzheimer's disease proteolysis holds the key, Science 286 (1999) 916–919.
- [186] D. Schenk, R. Barbour, W. Dunn, G. Gordon, H. Grajeda, T. Guido, K. Hu, J. Huang, K. Johnson-Wood, K. Khan, D. Kholodenko, M. Lee, Z. Liao, I. Lieberburg, R. Motter, L. Mutter, F. Soriano, G. Shopp, N. Vasquez, C. Vandevert, S. Walker, M. Wogulis, T. Yednock, D. Games, P. Seubert, Immunization with amyloid-beta attenuates Alzheimer-disease-like pathology in the PDAPP mouse, Nature 400 (1999) 173–177.
- [187] F. Bard, C. Cannon, R. Barbour, R.L. Burke, D. Games, H. Grajeda, T. Guido, K. Hu, J. Huang, K. Johnson-Wood, K. Khan, D. Kholodenko, M. Lee, I. Lieberburg, R. Motter, M. Nguyen, F. Soriano, N. Vasquez, K. Weiss, B. Welch, P. Seubert, D. Schenk, T. Yednock, Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease, Nat. Med. 6 (2000) 916–919.
- [188] D.L. Sparks, T.A. Martin, D.R. Gross, J.C. Hunsaker, 3rd Link between heart disease, cholesterol, and Alzheimer's disease: a review, Microsc. Res. Tech. 50 (2000) 287–290.
- [189] R.A. Cherny, C.S. Atwood, M.E. Xilinas, D.N. Gray, W.D. Jones, C.A. McLean, K.J. Barnham, I. Volitakis, F.W. Fraser, Y. Kim, X. Huang, L.E. Goldstein, R.D. Moir, J.T. Lim, K. Beyreuther, H. Zheng, R.E. Tanzi, C.L. Masters, A.I. Bush, Treatment with a copper-zinc chelator markedly and rapidly inhibits beta-amyloid accumulation in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice, Neuron J30 (2001) 665–676.
- [190] J. Rogers, S. Webster, L.F. Lue, L. Brachova, W.H. Civin, M. Emmerling, B. Shivers, D. Walker, P. McGeer, Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis, Neurobiol. Aging 17 (1996) 681–686.
- [191] A. Rauk, D.A. Armstrong, D.P. Fairlie, Is oxidative damage by amyloid and prion peptides mediated by hydrogen atom transfer from glycine carbon to methionine sulfur within sheets?, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122 (2000) 9761–9767.